## RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

**CLERK'S OFFICE** 

Mar 28, 2018, 1:56 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

95666-9 SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 75567-6-1

#### DALJIT S. DHALIWAL,

Petitioner

VS.

## STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

William Frick
Law Office of William Frick
719 Second Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 286-0167
(206) 770-7215 – Facsimile
william@fricklawfirm.info

Attorney for Petitioner

FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL



####

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Petitioner asks this Court to consider significant issues of law under both the US Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Washington.

Additionally, this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Petitioner, Daljit S. Dhaliwal, is denied a license to practice his profession of caregiver, based upon an

administrative finding that he hit his daughter. There is no physical evidence that this occurred. Mr. Dhaliwal has come forward with newly discovered evidence that exonerates him from this allegation, yet the agency refuses to consider the evidence and reexamine its finding.

Washington's Administrative Procedure Act prescribes that new evidence relating to the validity of an agency action, not discoverable at the time, and which serves the interests of justice, is grounds for remand to the agency for further fact finding. See RCW 34.05.562(2)(b).

RCW 34.05.562(2)(c), further contemplates remand to the agency when the agency improperly omits or excludes evidence from the record.

Did Court of Appeals fail to apply the correct legal standard in finding that the agency had no duty to consider or evaluate newly-available, exculpatory evidence?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2011 Mr. Dhaliwal's daughter accused him of hitting her with a closed fist. (C.P. Sub # 6 page 80)

There is no evidence of any injury in the record. Mr.

Dhaliwal's daughter was placed in DSHS custody.

Mr. Dhaliwal was charged with 4<sup>th</sup> degree assault. The charge was dismissed. (C.P. Sub # 7 page 137)

In January 2012 Mr. Dhaliwal's daughter told DSHS that he attempted to contact her in violation of DSHS rules.

(C.P. # 6 page 74)

In December 2011 and January 2012, DSHS informed Mr. Dhaliwal by mail that "it was more likely than not" that he had committed child abuse against his daughter on two

occasions. Mr. Dhaliwal received the letters. (C.P. Sub # 6 page 94)

Mr. Dhaliwal did not respond in writing to the

December 2011 and January 2012 letters. On January 10,
2012, Mr. Dhaliwal's daughter Sukhpreet wrote to DSHS
accusing the agency of mistreating her parents and
requesting to go home. (C.P. Sub # 6 page 54)

During February to April 2012, Mr. Dhaliwal and his family received counseling under the direction and auspices of DSHS, and the agency agreed to allow Sukhpreet to return home. (C.P. Sub # 6 pages 47-481)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Clerk's Papers citation here is to a quote from a confidential DSHS record that was not made a part of the administrative record by the agency, and is therefore not included in the Clerk's Papers. The original confidential record would be available to the agency on remand, along with approximately 100 additional pages of DSHS confidential records, to allow the agency to weigh the veracity of Sukhpreet's adult testimony against the statements she made as a sixteen-year-old.

Confidential agency records show that, although
Sukhpreet is currently well adjusted, strong, and functioning
as a new mother now, she had experienced a fragile and
delicate mental state while growing up, including attempts
at suicide. Mr. Dhaliwal and the entire family have helped
Sukhpreet though her difficult period of adolescence.

On August 8, 2013, Mr. Dhaliwal sought information from DSHS.

On August 16, 2013, per DSHS instructions he requested review of the "founded" reports stating that he had abused Sukhpreet.

On October 4, 2013, Ivana Rozekova, Area

Administrator for King County DSHS, informed him in
writing that any request for review must be submitted
within "20 calendar days" of the DSHS notice and that he
had missed that deadline. (C.P. Sub # 6 page 99)

Nonetheless, despite his missing the deadline, Ms.

Rozekova elected to reopen the case and conduct a review of the matter. She then informed him that the findings would not be changed. (C.P. Sub # 6 page 99)

In December 2013, Mr. Dhaliwal learned that his license as a caregiver for the elderly would be revoked because of "a pending charge" with DSHS Children Administration. (C.P. Sub # 7 pages 134-135)

On May 7, 2014, Mr. Dhaliwal asked the DSHS to allow him to dispute the "founded findings." He requested a hearing. (C.P. Sub # 6 page 72)

A Pre-Hearing Conference was held on October 24,
2014. (C.P. Sub # 6 page 66) DSHS was ordered to file a
Motion to Dismiss on or before November 25, 2014. (C.P. Sub
# 6 page 65)

DSHS did not file a Motion to Dismiss, but was granted until March 6, 2015 to do so. (C.P. Sub # 6 page 61)

DSHS did not file a Motion to Dismiss prior to a Pre-Hearing Conference held on June 9, 2015, at which time the agency was provided with a copy of Sukhpreet's newlyavailable written recantation. (C.P. Sub # 6 pages 57 & 55)

On June 30, 2015, the Office of Administrative

Hearings issued an Order of Dismissal. The Order did not
address the issue of the newly-discovered evidence. (C.P. Sub
# 6 pages 31-34)

On July 20, 2015, Mr. Dhaliwal submitted a Petition for Review to the DSHS Board of Appeals, specifically asserting that "new, previously unavailable evidence was made available" (C.P. Sub # 6 page 27) DSHS did not file a response.

On July 31, 2015, the DSHS Board of Appeals affirmed the Office of Administrative Hearings Order of Dismissal without addressing, or mentioning, the factual or legal issues raised by the new evidence. (C.P. Sub # 1 pages 16-23) On August 28, 2015, Mr. Dhaliwal petitioned the Superior Court for the State of Washington for review of the DSHS Board of Appeals Order. (C.P. Sub # 1 pages 2-5)

On April 22, 2016, a hearing was held in Superior

Court during which Mr. Dhaliwal's daughter's testimony and
her declaration were offered.

No testimony or evidence was received by the Superior Court regarding the newly discovered evidence, during the April 22, 2016 hearing. The Court ordered that the parties brief the specific issue of recanted evidence in administrative proceedings. (C.P. Sub # 11 pages 188-189) Both parties submitted briefs.

On July 1, 2016, the Superior Court affirmed the DSHS Board of Appeals Order. (C.P. Sub # 19 pages 224-225)

Mr. Dhaliwal sought review of the Superior Court's affirmation of the DSHS Board of Appeals Order, on August 1, 2016.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Dhaliwal has individual liberty and property interests in the right to his good name and the right to pursue his chosen occupation. These rights merit both substantive and procedural due process protection. See Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 572-574 (1972).

By refusing to consider new, previously unavailable evidence, or rule on the factual and/or legal relevance of the evidence, as contemplated in RCW 34.05.562, DSHS has acted arbitrarily and capriciously, and in discord with the law.

The interests of justice would be served by remanding this matter to the agency with instruction to consider Mr.

Dhaliwal's daughter's current testimony.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Standard of Review

The standards for review of agency orders under the APA are set forth in RCW 34.05.570.

DSHS findings of fact are reviewed under the substantial evidence standard. See RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). This standard is highly deferential to the administrative fact finder. King County v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 142 Wash.2d 543, 553, 14 P.3d 133 (2000). The same deference should be afforded to DSHS factual findings as an appellate court would afford a Superior Court's findings. Snohomish County v. Hinds, 61 Wash.App. 371, 378–79, 810 P.2d 84 (1991).

An appellate court engages in de novo review of the agency's legal conclusions. *In re Farina*, 94 Wash.App. 441, 450, 972 P.2d 531 (1999).

Under the APA, new evidence that becomes available and relates to the validity of the agency action at the time that action was taken, should be cause to remand the matter to the agency when the party could not reasonably have discovered the evidence prior to the agency action and the interests of justice would be served, can only be raised on appeal if they fall expressly within the statutory exceptions of RCW 34.05.562(2)(b). See Washington State Dept. of Health Unlicensed Practice Program v. Yow, 147 Wn.App. 807 (2008); Reviewable questions of judgment or discretion, whether in formal or informal administrative proceedings, are generally reviewed under the arbitrary or capricious standard. The US Supreme Court has held that a reviewing court shall hold unlawful and set aside agency action, findings conclusions found to be "arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law." See Camp v. Pitts, 411 U.S. 138, 93 S. Ct. 1241, 36 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1973).

Arbitrary and capricious action is established by willful and unreasoning action, without consideration and in disregard of facts and circumstances. *Pierce County Sheriff v. Civil Serv. Comm'n*, 98 Wash.2d 690, 695, 658 P.2d 648 (1983) (quoting *State v. Rowe*, 93 Wash.2d 277, 284, 609 P.2d 1348 (1980)). It is not established where there is room for two opinions, even though one may believe that an erroneous conclusion has been reached. *Id.* 

Clearly, erroneous action is established when an appellate court reviews the whole record and finds that although there is evidence to support the decision, the appellate court is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. Franklin County Sheriff's Office v. Sellers, 97 Wash.2d 317, 324, 646 P.2d 113 (1982)

(quoting *Ancheta v. Daly,* 77 Wash.2d 255, 259–60, 461 P.2d 531 (1969)).

## The DSHS' Refusal to Consider the Possible Relevance of Previously Unavailable Evidence is Arbitrary and Capricious

Washington's APA specifically provides that new, previously-unavailable evidence can — and should — be considered by an agency. The specific section of the Act reads as follows (emphasis added):

RCW 34.05.562

New evidence taken by court or agency.

- (1) The court may receive evidence in addition to that contained in the agency record for judicial review, only if it relates to the validity of the agency action at the time it was taken and is needed to decide disputed issues regarding:
- (a) Improper constitution as a decision-making body or grounds for disqualification of those taking the agency action;

- (b) Unlawfulness of procedure or of decisionmaking process; or
- (c) Material facts in rule making, brief adjudications, or other proceedings not required to be determined on the agency record.
- (2) The court may remand a matter to the agency, before final disposition of a petition for review, with directions that the agency conduct fact-finding and other proceedings the court considers necessary and that the agency take such further action on the basis thereof as the court directs, if:
- (a) The agency was required by this chapter or any other provision of law to base its action exclusively on a record of a type reasonably suitable for judicial review, but the agency failed to prepare or preserve an adequate record;
- (b) The court finds that (i) new evidence has become available that relates to the validity of the agency action at the time it was taken, that one or more of the parties did not know and was under no duty to discover or could not have reasonably been discovered until after the agency action, and (ii) the interests of justice would be served by remand to the agency;
- (c) The agency improperly excluded or omitted evidence from the record; or
- (d) A relevant provision of law changed after the agency action and the court determines

that the new provision may control the outcome.

In its reply brief before the Superior Court DSHS has argued that RCW 34.05.562(2)(b) is inapplicable to the facts at hand because Sukhpreet's current statement does not relate to the validity of the agency action that took place four years before, when she was sixteen. (C.R. Sub # 8 page 167)

However, Sukhpreet's current statements directly address the validity of the agency action at the time it was taken. It's clear that her statements deal with nothing *other* than the validity of the 2011 and 2012 agency actions. (C.R. sub # 7 page 151)

Her father could not have known, at the time of the DSHS decision, that she would eventually want to recant her allegations, and it seems unimaginable to argue that a full consideration by DSHS of its record in this matter—including Sukhpreet's current statements exonerating her

parents and admitting her teenage fabrications — is not in the interest of justice.

We ask the Court to further consider that the record shows that DSHS ignored the possible relevance of Sukhpreet Dhaliwal's current testimony regarding her actions when she was sixteen. The agency refused to even acknowledge the issue, or make a ruling on whether, or for what reason, it was rejecting the new evidence in either of the two agency orders in the record.

In acting as if the issue of new evidence did not exist,

DSHS has declined to provide the Court with a basis to

begin its review.

Did the agency reject the evidence as a finding of fact or as a matter of law?

Neither the Plaintiff nor the Court can know the agency's reasoning in refusing to acknowledge Mr.

Dhaliwal's request to submit new evidence pursuant to RCW

34.05.562(2)(b.

The agency's exclusion of this new evidence and its refusal to even address the evidence in its orders, further gives rise to a request to remand this matter pursuant to RCW 34.05.562(2)(c), which contemplates remand as a remedy for improperly omitting or excluding evidence from the record.

#### CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT

Petitioner respectfully requests the Court remand this case to the agency for inclusion of Sukhpreet Dhaliwal's current written statements and testimony into the administrative record and reconsideration of the two determinations of abuse, based upon the full record.