FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/16/2018 11:49 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95666-9

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# DALJIT DHALIWAL,

Appellant,

v.

# STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent.

# DSHS ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

LISA M. ROTH Assistant Attorney General WSBA #19312 Office Identification #91016 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7045

## I. INTRODUCTION

Mr. Dhaliwal failed to timely request review of the Department's founded findings of child abuse or neglect in compliance with the express requirements of RCW 26.44.125. When Mr. Dhaliwal failed to pursue and perfect his appeal in a timely fashion, the Department's founded findings of abuse and neglect became final. They are not subject to further appeal based on his allegations of new evidence, and Mr. Dhaliwal's argument for such relief does not present any issues that warrant this Court's review. Therefore, the petition for review should be denied.

Mr. Dhaliwal provides no legal authority whatsoever to support his claim that new evidence may be considered under RCW 34.05.562 in an untimely hearing, long after the appellant fails to perfect a timely appeal. Thus, Mr. Dhaliwal forfeited his hearing rights and cannot resurrect those rights through RCW 34.05.562(2) by offering recantation evidence.

#### II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether Mr. Dhaliwal lost his hearing rights due to his failure to timely request review of child abuse and neglect findings pursuant to RCW 26.44.125, such that he cannot seek a hearing years after the founded finding became final?
- B. Whether recantation evidence that seeks to challenge an otherwise final "founded finding" is allowed under RCW 34.05.562(2)?

## III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose from two founded findings of child abuse not challenged in a timely fashion. The first finding was made on December 20, 2011, when Daljit Dhaliwal received notice that DSHS made a founded finding in Intake No. 2535417 that he physically abused his child on November 29, 2011. CABR 94-99. The notice stated that the allegation of physical abuse was founded against Mr. Dhaliwal based in part on allegations that on November 29, 2011, Mr. Dhaliwal became angry with his daughter when they were driving in a car and "he took off his silver bracelet (using it wrapped around his knuckles) and struck her several times with a closed fist." CABR 95. *See also* CABR 79.

On January 5, 2012, Daljit Dhaliwal received a second notice that DSHS made a founded finding in Intake No. 2543461, determining that he engaged in negligent treatment or maltreatment of his child on December 12, 2011. CABR 88-89. The notice stated that the allegation of negligent treatment or mistreatment was founded against Mr. Dhaliwal based in part on allegations that on December 12, 2011, Mr. Dhaliwal locked his 16-year-old daughter in a bedroom at the parents' home for about

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Certified Appeal Board Record (CABR) does not have Clerk's Papers numbers assigned. Rather, it was sent to the Court of Appeals by the King County Superior Court Clerk's Office as Sub No. 6. The Certified Appeal Board Record pages were Bates stamped with Sub No. 6 consisting of pages 1 through 99. Hence, citations to the Certified Appeal Board Record will be made as follows: "CABR" followed by the specific Bates stamped page number(s).

30 minutes and attempted to coerce her to return to the care of her parents, when the parents were only allowed to have supervised visits with the daughter. CABR 89. See also CABR 59.

The Department's founded finding notices were written in Mr. Dhaliwal's native language and Mr. Dhaliwal acknowledges that he received the notices letters in December 2011 and January 2012.<sup>2</sup> CP 20;<sup>3</sup> CABR 88-99; Pet. at 8-9. The notices included notice of how Mr. Dhaliwal could challenge the findings with administrative review. CABR 70-83, 88-89, 94-99.

Mr. Dhaliwal also acknowledges that he did not respond to the Department's December 2011 and January 2012 notices of founded findings until August 2013. Pet. at 10. On August 16, 2013, more than eighteen months after receiving the notices of founded findings, Mr. Dhaliwal asked DSHS Children's Administration to review the notices that he received on December 20, 2011 and January 5, 2012. CABR 84-86.

In response, the DSHS Area Administrator informed Mr. Dhaliwal in a letter dated October 4, 2013 that his request for review "of the findings resulting from intake #2535417 and #2543461" was untimely and long past

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although the CABR does not expressly state that the notices received by Mr. Dhaliwal on 12/20/11 and 01/05/12 are in the Punjabi language, the evidence indicates they are in Punjabi. The Department expressly stated that the notice it later gave to Mr. Dhaliwal on October 7, 2013 is in the Punjabi language. CABR 84-87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Citations to the Clerk's Papers are listed as "CP" followed by the specific page number referenced in the Index to Clerk's Papers.

his allowed timeframe, but also added that she reviewed the investigative records and findings and determined that the founded findings will not be changed. CABR 84. The Department's October 4, 2013 letter was written in Mr. Dhaliwal's native language and hand delivered to him on October 7, 2013. CABR 84-87. Mr. Dhaliwal acknowledged receipt of the Department's October 4, 2013 letter. Pet. at 10.

Seven more months followed with no action. But on May 7, 2014, Mr. Dhaliwal delivered to the Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) a hearing request to challenge the Department's letter dated October 4, 2013, which had declined to change the founded findings resulting from Intake Numbers 2535417 and 2543461. CABR 57.

In preparation for his administrative hearing, Mr. Dhaliwal submitted to the OAH an unsworn statement from his daughter dated April 21, 2015 (attached to his Pre-Hearing Statement), which references a CPS case in November 2011 and states that her father and mother did not do these crimes, didn't hit her and it was all a lie. CABR 40. This conclusory, unsworn statement does not specifically refute the allegations set forth in the DSHS notices relating to the founded findings in Intake Numbers 2535417 and 254346. CABR 40. Mr. Dhaliwal also submitted to the OAH a copy of an email sent by his daughter to Ragnar Bloom, dated January 10, 2012, which also does not specifically refute the founded

findings. CABR 39. There is also a letter in the Certified Appeal Board Record from a physician dated May 22, 2014, which states that "Daljit says that he has a CPS incident on his record from 3 years ago, when he hit his daughter on the arm because she was misbehaving . . . they had a fight (11/29/2011) and he slapped her on the arm, and she reported him to CPS." CABR 53. None of these records were formally admitted during in the administrative proceeding and Mr. Dhaliwal did not present any other evidence to refute the Department's founded findings.<sup>4</sup> CABR 1-99; CP 67-80.

On June 9, 2015, a prehearing conference was held and the Department made an oral motion to dismiss the appeal because Mr. Dhaliwal failed to timely request review of the Department's founded findings in Intake Numbers 2535417 and 254346. CP 71. Mr. Dhaliwal's attorney agreed on June 9, 2015 to proceed by addressing that dismissal motion. CP 71-73.

On June 30, 2015, the Administrative Law Judge issued an order dismissing Mr. Dhaliwal's appeal because his request for review was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Appellant makes factual allegations in his Petition for Review relating to his daughter that were not offered into evidence in the administrative proceeding. Pet. at 9, 10. Such allegations that are not based on findings or even admitted evidence should not be considered by this Court in evaluating whether the issues presented by this case should be reviewed.

untimely. CABR 16-21. Mr. Dhaliwal then timely petitioned for review to the DSHS Board of Appeals to challenge the Order of Dismissal. CABR 12.

On July 31, 2015, the DSHS Board of Appeals Review Judge issued the Review Decision and Final Order affirming the Administrative Law Judge's dismissal of Mr. Dhaliwal's appeal. CABR 1-8. The Review Judge found that Mr. Dhaliwal failed to timely request review of the Department's notices of founded findings received on December 20, 2011 and January 5, 2012, because he did not ask DSHS to review those findings until August 13, 2013. CABR 7-8. Further, the Review Judge found that Mr. Dhaliwal did not request administrative review of the Department's letter dated October 4, 2013 (that notified Mr. Dhaliwal that his hearing request was untimely and the found findings will not be changed) until May 7, 2014. CABR 8.

Next, Mr. Dhaliwal timely filed a petition for judicial review in King County Superior Court and the Court affirmed the DSHS Review Decision and Final Order. CP 1-4, 105-106. Mr. Dhaliwal then timely filed a Notice of Appeal. CP 109-110.

In an unpublished decision dated February 26, 2018, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Review Decision and Final Order dated July 31, 2015, which dismissed Mr. Dhaliwal's appeal. The Court of Appeals ruled that Mr. Dhaliwal's failure to timely request a hearing under former

RCW 26.44.125(2) (1998) resulted in the loss of his hearing rights under RCW 26.44.125. Further, the court ruled that the terms of RCW 34.05.562(2)(b), which allow a court to remand upon discovery of new evidence, do not allow the court to reopen a final order that was not timely appealed.

#### IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

The time bar to Mr. Dhaliwal's claim is based on well-established case law and statute. There is no need for a third level of judicial review.

# A. Review Is Not Warranted Because Mr. Dhaliwal Lost His Hearing Rights Due To His Failure To Timely Request Review

Mr. Dhaliwal lost his hearing rights due to his failure to comply with the express requirements of former RCW 26.44.125 for timely requesting review of the Department's founded findings of child abuse or neglect. His attempt to seek untimely administrative review does not warrant this Court's review under any of the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

The Legislature created a right to review founded findings of abuse or neglect to the Department as follows:

Within twenty calendar days after receiving written notice from the department under RCW 26.44.100 that a person is named as an alleged perpetrator in a founded report of child abuse or neglect, he or she may request that the department review the finding. The request must be made in writing. If a request for review is not made as provided in this subsection, the alleged perpetrator may not further challenge the finding and shall have no right to agency

# review or to an adjudicative hearing or judicial review of the finding.

Former RCW 26.44.125(2) (emphasis added).

It is undisputed that Mr. Dhaliwal failed to timely request that the Department review the Department's founded findings of child abuse or neglect after receiving written notice of the findings from the Department, as required by former RCW 26.44.125(2).<sup>5</sup> He made no request to DSHS Children's Administration to challenge the notices he received on December 20, 2011 and January 5, 2012, until 18 months later, on August 16, 2013. CABR 84-86. This failure to act waived his right to challenge the Department's findings and, therefore, he has "no right to agency review or to an adjudicative hearing or judicial review" of the findings. Former RCW 26.44.125(2).

Similarly, under the Administrative Procedure Act, if a party fails to file an application for an adjudicative proceeding within the time limit established by statute or agency rule, that party loses the right to an adjudicative proceeding. RCW 34.05.440(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The provisions of RCW 26.44.125(2) in effect at the time the Department made the founded reports against Mr. Dhaliwal in December of 2011 required that a request for review be made within twenty (20) days after receiving written notice. This statute was subsequently changed to extend the time period to request review to thirty (30) days and other provisions were also added. Given that Mr. Dhaliwal delayed for 18 months, he is barred by any version of the statute.

The Legislature can specify what conditions it wants an appellant to satisfy to perfect an administrative appeal and exhaust the mandatory administrative remedies, as it has in RCW 26.44.125. The administrative law tribunals and the superior court follow such standards because they are the law. Otherwise, there would be no deadlines for requesting review or filing appeals and no statutes of limitations.

Hence, when Mr. Dhaliwal failed to perfect his appeal, the Department's founded findings of abuse and neglect became final and not subject to further appeal. This finality is well-recognized in Washington law. "The doctrine of claim preclusion applies to a final judgment by the Department as it would to an appealed order of a trial court." *Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 537, 886 P.2d 189 (1994). A final order precludes relitigation or collateral attack. *Id.* at 538. The "failure to appeal an order, even one containing a clear error of law, turns the order into a final adjudication, precluding any reargument of the same claim." *Id.* Put another way, "[a]n unappealed Department order is res judicata as to the issues encompassed within the terms of the order, absent fraud in the entry of the order..." *Kingery v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 132 Wn.2d 162, 169, 937 P.2d 565 (1997).

The Petition offers no reason for the Court to revisit these legal principles. He cites no cases that conflict with the decisions below.

Therefore, Mr. Dhaliwal's claim that his petition presents significant issues of law under the Constitutions of the United States and the State of Washington and an issue of substantial public interest is without merit. Pet. at 6, 14. Rather, the issues (and Mr. Dhaliwal's complaint) is a fact-specific problem unique to his failure to timely request review, which results in an unappealed, but final order. Therefore, the Court of Appeal's unpublished opinion that affirmed dismissal of his untimely appeal does not warrant review.

# B. The Courts Below Properly Refused to Consider Recantation Evidence under RCW 34.05.562(2) Because Mr. Dhaliwal Had No Right to a Hearing to Review the Founded Findings

The Court of Appeals properly refused to consider Mr. Dhaliwal's recantation evidence under RCW 34.05.562(2), a provision of the APA governing new evidence during judicial review, because Mr. Dhaliwal had lost his hearing rights by failing to timely request and exhaust his administrative review procedures. Mr. Dhaliwal's reliance on that statute to support his request for an untimely hearing is not an issue that warrants review under RAP 13.4(b).

Once Mr. Dhaliwal forfeited his hearing rights by failing to perfect his appeal, he cannot resurrect those rights through RCW 34.05.562(2) by purporting to offer "new" recantation evidence. First, Mr. Dhaliwal fails to provide any legal authority to support his claim that new evidence may be

considered by the administrative law judge or by the judicial review judge under RCW 34.05.562, when the appellant failed to perfect his appeal.

Moreover, the plain language of that RCW 34.05.562(2)(b) addresses the power of a court to remand for additional evidence when reviewing an actual final adjudicative decision and hearing record. That statute provides:

- (2) The court may remand a matter to the agency, before final disposition of a petition for review, with directions that the agency conduct fact-finding and other proceedings the court considers necessary and that the agency take such further action on the basis thereof as the court directs, if:
- (b) The court finds that (i) new evidence has become available that relates to the validity of the agency action at the time it was taken, that one or more of the parties did not know and was under no duty to discover or could not have reasonably been discovered until after the agency action, and (ii) the interests of justice would be served by remand to the agency; It does not authorize a court to , when hearing a judicial review in its appellate capacity, to evidence outside in an adjudicative hearing or other administrative hearing record.

Mr. Dhaliwal's case in superior court does not fit this statute. It concerned an agency decision *not* to conduct a hearing that was requested years after founded findings became final. In that setting, the only issue was whether the findings were indeed final. The courts were not reviewing an administrative record that had upheld founding findings, and they were not addressing if an adjudicative hearing order was supported by substantial

evidence. That is the context in which RCW 34.05.562(2)(b) might allow a court during the appellate process to remand. In contrast, Mr. Dhaliwal's argument would turn this statute into a perpetual exception to finality of unchallenged findings, and allow courts to order an agency to adjudicate otherwise final action months or years after the actions are final.

RCW 26.44.125 clearly does not give the court authority to alter the terms of perfection of an appeal. It does not contemplate that there would be another remedy or an analysis of whether there was prejudice or that RCW 34.05.562(2)(b) would provide this exception. Nor is RCW 26.44.125 like other statutory schemes where the Legislature specifically provides for a potential remedy for late service. *See, e.g.*, RCW 50.32.075.<sup>6</sup>

Hence, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the language in RCW 34.05.562(2)(b), which allows a court to remand upon discovery of new evidence in narrow circumstances, does not authorize the court to order an agency to conduct a hearing to address final findings where there was no timely request for review. Mr. Dhaliwal's arguments to the contrary are not based in any case law and contradict the statute. The issue, therefore, does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Under the unemployment compensation scheme, the Legislature provided for a waiver of the time for appeal if "good cause" was established. *See* RCW 50.32.075 ("For good cause shown the appeal tribunal or the commissioner may waive the time limitations for administrative appeals or petitions set forth in the provisions of this title.") No such language exists under RCW 26.44.125.

## V. CONCLUSION

Mr. Dhaliwal has failed to establish that the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision presents a significant question of law or an issue of substantial public interest. The Respondent therefore respectfully requests that the Supreme Court deny the petition for review.